IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ALBERT DUCKETT	AND	ALICE	DU	CKETT
----------------	-----	-------	----	-------

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

NO. 2008-CA-01329

MAYOR AND BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE CITY OF OCEAN SPRINGS, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Albert Duckett, Appellant,
Alice Duckett, Appellant,
John Paul Barber, Attorney for Appellants,

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. The Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi (the "Trial Court") erred by failing to apply the *de novo* standard of review to the issue of statutory interpretation presented and by failing to conclude that the City of Ocean Springs (the "City") misinterpreted the C-4B zoning ordinance to allow Harbor Landing, LLC ("Harbor Landing") to operate a restaurant and bar that serves the general public in the Limited Marina District.
- 2. The Trial Court erred by failing to hold that the City's decision to allow Harbor Landing to operate a restaurant and bar that serves the general public in the Limited Marina District was an illegal "special use exception" specifically prohibited in the Limited Marina District by the Ocean Springs Zoning Ordinance.
- 3. Alternatively, applying the arbitrary and capricious standard, the Trial Court erred by failing to conclude that the City acted arbitrarily and capriciously in "interpreting" the Ocean Springs C-4B zoning ordinance to allow Harbor Landing to operate a restaurant and bar that serves the general public in the Limited Marina District.
- 4. The Trial Court erred by failing to conclude that the City's decision to allow Harbor Landing to operate a restaurant and bar that serves the general public in the Limited Marina District was illegal spot zoning.
- 5. The Trial Court erred by failing to conclude that the City's decision to allow Harbor Landing to operate a restaurant and bar that serves the general public in the Limited Marina District was an illegal variance.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is an appeal of a decision by the Trial Court to affirm a decision by the City to allow Harbor Landing to offer food and beverage services to the general public in violation of a City zoning ordinance which limits commercial activity in the City's Limited Marina District to the provision of boats and water-craft that ply the City's inner harbor.

I. Course of the Proceedings Below:

This appeal arises from requested changes to a building permit the City Building Department issued to Harbor Landing for real property located at 1709 Harbor Road, Ocean Springs, MS, (hereinafter referred to as the "Subject Property"). The Subject Property is located within the C-4B District (Commercial Limited Marina) of the City of Ocean Springs (hereinafter, the C-4B District shall be referred to as the "Limited Marina District"). Harbor Landing owns the subject property.

A. Proceedings before the Building Department.

The City issued a building permit to Harbor Landing after Hurricane Katrina authorizing construction of a ship's store and office space Harbor Landing's boat storage enterprise business. (R. 197; R.E.016). At the time the building permit was issued, Harbor Landing did not disclose plans for a restaurant use. (R. 267 and 670; R.E. 062 and 230). Instead, Harbor Landing represented its food services would be limited to pre-made sandwiches and other packaged snacks offered for sale to boat traffic with no food preparation on-site. (R. 269; R.E.064).

Later, city building officials learned that Harbor Landing intended to open a restaurant and bar on the subject property. City officials advised Harbor Landing that such a use was not permitted in the Limited Marina District and that the City could only allow such a non-conforming use if a "special use permit" were approved by the Mayor and Board of Aldermen. (R. 200; R.E. 019).

B. Proceedings before the Planning Commission.

On January 29, 2007, Harbor Landing filed a request for a "Special Exception" to operate a "full service marina", "yacht club" and to provide food services in the Limited Marina District. (R. 226-227; R.E. 026-027). The Planning Commission posted a Public Notice advertising that the application would be the subject of a public hearing to be heard on March 13, 2007. (R.301; R.E. 072).

The Planning Commission conducted a Public Hearing on the Special Use Application on March 13, 2007. After hearing from proponents and opponents of the application, the Planning Commission approved a Motion to Table the application until the next meeting to obtain more information on parking and other issues. (R. 333; R.E. 074).

The Planning Commission considered the special use application and a draft "Conditional Use Permit" at its April 10, 2007 meeting. (R. 353; R.E. 083). After hearing more evidence on the issues, the Commission considered and approved a Motion to recommend to the Mayor and Board of Aldermen that the special use application be denied based, in part, on their conclusion that parking is not sufficient in the Limited Marina District. (R. 398 and 409-411; R.E. and 103 and 106-108). The Commission also approved a second motion recommending that the Mayor and Board of Aldermen prepare an agreement with Harbor Landing specifically defining and limiting the scope of its food services to food and beverages prepared off-site for consumption off-site. (R. 399 and 409-411; R.E. 104 and 106-108).

C. Proceedings Before the Mayor and Board of Aldermen.

Harbor Landing appealed the Planning Commission's recommended denial of its Application

for special use permit. The Mayor and Board of Aldermen placed the issue on its April 17, 2007 agenda as follows: "[a]ppeal denial of Planning Commission for special use permit to sell food — David Harris". The minutes of the Mayor and Board of Aldermen's April 17, 2007 meeting shows that the mayor removed Harbor Landing's appeal from the agenda of the April 17, 2007 meeting. Harbor Landing requested a two week continuance to appeal the Planning Commission's denial of its application for a Special Use Permit and requested a clarification in writing of the "C4-B Ordinance food and beverage issue." Alderman McDonnell asked the City Attorney for a listing of what can be regulated in C4-B. (R. 460; R.E. 114).

The Agenda of the May 1, 2007 Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Board of Aldermen lists "Harbor Landing Project Appeal" as "Old Business" agenda item "5(a)". (R. 536; R.E. 177). Rather than taking the matter up as an appeal of the Planning Commission's denial of the application for special use exception, the Board of Aldermen passed a resolution with findings of fact interpreting the zoning ordinance to allow Harbor Landing to sell food and beverages to the general public in the Limited Marina District. (R. 527-531, 539, 540 and 568; R.E. 168-172, 180, 181 and 187). The Mayor and Board of Aldermen finally adjourned their May 1, 2007 Regular Meeting at their May 29, 2007 Recess Meeting. (R. 621-623; R.E. 192-194).

D. Appeal to Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi.

On June 1, 2007, the Appellants, Albert Duckett and Alice Duckett (the "Ducketts"), filed their Notice of Appeal of the City's resolution with the Trial Court together with a motion requesting additional time to prepare and file a Bill of Exceptions. (R. 2; R.E. 002). The Ducketts filed a Bill of Exceptions on September 20, 2007. (R. 38-41; R.E. 010-013). In accordance with the Trial Court's Scheduling Order, the Ducketts filed their Appellate Brief on October 31, 2007. The City

filed a "Corrected Bill of Exceptions" on November 2, 2007 and its Response Brief on December 3, 2007. The Ducketts filed their Reply Brief on January 14, 2008. (R.2, R.E. 002).

The Trial Court heard oral argument on February 29, 2008. On July 2, 2008, the Trial Court issued its Decision and Order affirming the City's resolution. (R. 691-697, R.E.240-246). The Ducketts filed their Notice of Appeal on August 1, 2008 together with other pleadings needed to perfect this appeal. (R. 698, R.E. 247).

II. Statement of Facts

A. Geography of the Limited Marina District.

The Subject Property at issue in this appeal is located in the Limited Marina District (C-4B Zone) of the City of Ocean Springs. The Limited Marina District is bounded on all sides by Single Family Residential (R-1) zones except a small R-1A zone bounding the Southwest section of the District and the Public Beach just South of the District. The most prominent geographic feature of the Limited Marina District is a dredged inlet of Biloxi Bay known as the "Ocean Springs Inner Harbor" or as the "Small Craft Harbor". A map depicting the Limited Marina District can be found at (R 215; R.E. 023).

B. Comprehensive Plan for the Limited Marina District describing acceptable uses in the Limited Marina District.

The City adopted the Ocean Springs Comprehensive Plan on June 19, 2001 intending it to be the community's vision of its own future and a guide to achieve that vision through the year 2020. With respect to the Limited Marina District, the Comprehensive Plan states:

The Inner Harbor District is another unique area of the city. The District plays a critical role for Ocean Springs because it is characteristic of the community's image, exemplifying the type and mix of desired and appropriate uses. Located between Front Beach and East Beach, the Inner Harbor District is a small craft harbor located among traditional single-

family detached dwellings. The District provides small craft storage slips for personal vessels, yet also permits single family residential units and limited marine-related commercial activities, which include the sale or service and supplies for those who use the harbor. The protection and preservation of the harbor and the surrounding neighborhoods is an important task for the City. The continuance and further development of permitted uses should be encouraged. Uses, whether marina-based or not, which should be prohibited include moderate- and high-density residential, moderate- and high-intensity commercial uses, repair shops and industrial activities because they are not conductive to the character and environment surrounding the harbor."

(R. 77; R.E. 015). The 20 year Comprehensive plan for protecting the Limited Marina District is entirely consistent with the City's zoning ordinance applicable to the District.

C. History of Zoning in the Limited Marina District.

Currently, the City of Ocean Springs zoning ordinance for the Limited Marina District reads as follows:

"C-4-B commercial limited marina. In the marina zone the use of buildings, other structures, and the land is restricted to the following:

Yacht clubs, sale or service and supplies including beverages and food for boats and water craft which use the small craft harbor Specifically prohibited are: All types of commercial marine ways, repair shops or any type of industrial activity."

Section 409.2 of the Ocean Springs Zoning Ordinance. (R. 662-663; R.E. 222-223).

This very restricted zoning stems, in part, from a promise made in 1938 by the Supervisors of Jackson County through A.P. Moran, the district's representative. Supervisor Moran was seeking property donations from adjacent landowners for a right-of-way so the County could dredge Mill Dam Bayou to create the Inner Harbor. His intent was to give "the poor fisher class and owners of boats in Ocean Springs...a safe harbor to store their boats in time of storm." Supervisor Moran continues in his September 14, 1938 letter to Mrs. G. W. Anderson to promise that in exchange for the easement, the Town of Ocean Springs would "zone the whole area, so that there will be no business enterprises whatever around the harbor." (R 202; R.E.021).

By 1949, the City of Ocean Springs had passed an ordinance regulating the inner harbor area. Ordinance 4-1949 provided that harbor facilities could include a gasoline filling station for boats, restrooms, ice crushers and the buildings needed to house this infrastructure. However, the City was careful to limit the use of these facilities to "boats using the said harbor." (R. 635-638; R.E. 195-199).

In 1957, the City created the Limited Marina District. Again, through Ordinance No. 1-1957, the City limited commercial activity in the area to those enterprises "that are related to the sale of services and supplies for boats and watercraft which use the Small Craft Harbor". The 1957 Ordinance prohibited marine ways, repair shops, or any type of industrial activity. The repair and upkeep of boats on land was specifically prohibited as was the sale of beer and alcoholic beverages. (R. 635-637 and 639-640; R.E. 195-197 and 199-200). In 1967, the ordinance was amended to allow the sale of beer to be consumed only outside the Limited Marina District. (R. 636; R.E.196).

In 1972, the Ordinance was amended to restrict uses in the Limited Marina District to the "sale or service of supplies for boats and watercraft which use the Small Craft Harbor. Specifically prohibited were all types of commercial marine ways, repair shops or any type of industrial activity. Beer may be sold for off premises consumption." (R. 636; R.E. 196).

In 1976, the City passed Ordinance 13-1976 which has language that mirrors the current ordinance: "the use of buildings, other structures, and the land is restricted to the following: yacht clubs, sale or service and supplies including beverages and food for boats and watercraft which use the Small Craft Harbor Specifically prohibited are: all types of commercial marine ways, repair shops or any type of industrial activity." (R. 636-637 and 645-646; R.E. and 196-197).

Two common themes emerge from this review of the City's zoning laws regulating the

Limited Marina District. First, all commercial activity in the District is limited to sales of services and supplies to boats and watercraft which use the Small Craft Harbor. Second, marine ways, repair shops and any type of industrial activity are specifically prohibited.

D. Past Application of Zoning Ordinance to the Subject Property - Provision of ice to fishing boats and pleasure craft that use the Inner Harbor is an example of a permitted use in the Limited Marina District.

Before Harbor Landing acquired the subject property, Earl H. Fayard, Jr. owned the parcel. In 1982, Mr. Fayard proposed constructing an Ice House on the subject property. The City was asked to determine if this was a permitted use in the Limited Marina District. Then City Attorney Oscar R. Jordan opined that the issue turned on whether the facility would provide "sale of service and supplies, including beverages and food for boats and watercraft which use the Small Craft Harbor." Mr. Jordan advised that the issue would turn on whether Mr. Fayard intended to sell ice to boats and watercraft as opposed to general commercial sales. Finding that Mr. Fayard's ice house would sell ice to the shrimp boats and pleasure watercraft which use the Small Craft Harbor, the Mayor and Board of Aldermen approved a Motion to adjudicate that the ice house was a permitted use. (R. 647-648; R.E. 207-208).

E. Evidence Collected by Building Department - Post Katrina Building Permit and Discovery of Harbor Landing's Intent to Operate a Restaurant and Bar.

On August 29, 2005, Hurricane Katrina rampaged through the Harbor District heavily damaging the home of Appellants along with most of the residences near or on the water. Very few homes were undamaged. The residents, undaunted, began rebuilding their homes. Harbor Landing also began rebuilding its boat storage businesses.

In January 2007, City Building Official Greg Wilson (hereinafter referred to as "Greg

Wilson") discovered that Harbor Landing's rebuilding plans included a restaurant and bar use when his department received a telephone call from a company seeking to identify the right-of-way for a gas line to the subject property. Greg Wilson asked the builder what was the purpose of the gas line and he was told it was for a restaurant. Harbor Landing had not previously disclosed plans for a restaurant and bar in its applications submitted to the City's building department. See, testimony of Greg Wilson before the March 13, 2007 meeting of the Ocean Springs Planning Commission. (R. 267; R.E. 062).

Two or three days later, City Building Official Terry Agar read a January 11, 2007 article in the Sun Herald newspaper stating that Harbor Landing intended to place a restaurant in the Limited Marina District. (R. 267 and 664; R.E. 062 and 224). At this point, Terry Agar sent a letter to Harbor Landing stating that a restaurant in the Limited Marina District was a non-conforming use and suggesting that a "special use permit" would be required to operate a restaurant on the premises. (R. 200; R.E.019). Noting that the Ocean Springs Zoning Ordinances allow restaurants in all commercial zones except the Limited Marina District, Assistant City Planner Angela Mohar also advised Harbor Landing to apply for a "special use permit" to request permission to operate the restaurant in violation of the City's zoning ordinance and to provide new plans. (R. 201; R.E. 020). Harbor Landing finally disclosed its plans for the non-conforming Restaurant and Bar use when it submitted a new floor plan for a 58 seat restaurant and another floor plan depicting a bar-type seating arrangement with 39 bar stools and 21 table seats. (R. 198-199; R.E. 017-018). Newspaper articles

¹ The Sun Herald quotes David Harris, Sr. describing Harbor Landing as a "full-service" marina offering "wash-down services, fuel, ice, tackle, snacks and **engine maintenance**." Mr. Harris promoted the restaurant as a place where "**everyone** can come and watch the boats come in and enjoy Ocean Springs." (Emphasis added). (R. 664; R.E. 224).

also show that Harbor Landing provided drawings outlining locations for grease traps and "dumpsters" for restaurant waste. (R. 670; R.E. 230). Angela Mohar advised Harbor Landing that its proposal for a non-conforming restaurant and bar use would have to be considered by the Planning Commission and the Mayor and Board of Aldermen. (R. 670; R.E.230).

F. Evidence Presented to Planning Commission during Consideration of Application for Special Use Permit to Operate Restaurant and Bar in Limited Marina District.

On January 29, 2007, Harbor Landing requested a special use permit in the form of an Application for a Public Hearing with the Planning Commission signed by David Harris. Harbor Landing's Application says it intended to use the subject property as a "full service marina - to accommodate (sic) the City of Ocean Springs plans to rebuild and be in accord with "smart growth". Under the section on present uses of the property, Mr. Harris listed "Food - waiting on ships store to be rebuilt after Katrina." At the bottom of the application the following handwritten sentence appears, "David said it was going to be a deli like Mohlers - serving poboys - sandwiches". (R. 226-227; R.E. 026-027).

After reviewing Harbor Landing's January 29, 2007 Public Hearing Application, the City's Building and Planning Departments sent a February 22, 2007 letter to Harbor Landing requesting a detailed site plan to evaluate their request for a "special use" permit for the subject property. (R. 201; R.E. 020).

The Department of Community Planning prepared a Planning Commission Report in advance of the March 13, 2007 Public Hearing. The report determined that based on the seating arrangement, type of equipment to be installed and description of food items to be prepared, the proposed restaurant would be classified as a "short order (fast food) type FB restaurant as defined by the FDA"

and the Mississippi Department of Health. (R. 338-340; R.E. 080-082).

a. Evidence Presented at March 13, 2007 Public Hearing.

On March 13, 2007, the Planning Commission conducted a Public Hearing on Harbor Landing's application for a special use permit to open a restaurant and bar in the Limited Marina District. Almost 60 people signed the "Sign-in-Sheet". (R. 336-337; R.E. 078-079).

Mr. David Harris spoke first on behalf of Harbor Landing. Disclosing plans to serve the general public, Mr. Harris said Harbor Landing planned to open a restaurant or a deli "where people can come and eat." (R. 235-236; R.E. 030-031).

David Harris, III also spoke on behalf of Harbor Landing. He said he stopped in front of several restaurants and bars in downtown Ocean Springs to check their noise levels. Comparing Harbor Landing's proposed restaurant and bar to other bars and restaurants that operate in other sections of Ocean Springs, Mr. Harris opined that these other bars and restaurants were not "overly offensive". (R. 236-237; R.E. 031-032).

Ms. Jody Harris testified that the proposed restaurant was a "family place" and not intended to be a "bar". Ms. Harris represented to the planning commission that the restaurant did not have a liquor license. (R. 237-238; R.E. 032-033).

Many citizens of the surrounding residential neighborhoods spoke in opposition to the special use request. Appellant Bruce Duckett, a resident of the adjacent R-1 neighborhood district since 1964 who had previously served on the Planning Commission, pointed out that the C-4-B zoning prohibited certain activities and did not permit a restaurant, which was allowed in C-1, C-2 and C-3 districts. He also mentioned the existing traffic problems at the harbor and cited the requirements of a yacht club pursuant to the ordinance, and testified that he lived directly downwind from the

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