IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CA-01329

ALBERT DUCKETT AND ALICE DUCKETT

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

MAYOR AND BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE CITY OF OCEAN SPRINGS, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JACKSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-00,130(3)

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE: John B. Edwards II, Kendall K. Stockman, DOGAN & WILKINSON, PLLC 734 Delmas Avenue Post Office Box 1618 Pascagoula, MS 39568-1618 Telephone: (228) 762-2272 Facsimile: (228) 762-4145

i

i

Ĺ

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

In 1972, the ordinance was amended to read as follows: "In the marina zone the use of buildings, other structures, and the land is restricted to the following: sale or service of supplies for boats and watercraft which use the Small Craft Harbor. Specifically prohibited are: all types of

¹ The Harris' application originally came before the Planning Commission and the Mayor and Board as a request for a special use or special exception as directed by the Building Department.

commercial marine ways, repair shops or any type of industrial activity. Beer may be sold for off premises consumption." Notably, the language referring to residential purposes was deleted as well as the specific language restricting against the repair and upkeep of boats on land or the scraping and painting of same or the doing of any kind of building or repair for boats.

Finally, in 1976, the language of the ordinance was amended to mirror that of today's ordinance, which provides in pertinent part: "In the marina zone the use of buildings, other structures, and the land is restricted to the following: Yacht clubs, sale or service and supplies *including beverages and food* for boats and water craft which use the small craft harbor." The Board removed the clause "[b]eer may be sold for off premises consumption" and included the words "beverages and food" in the sale or service and supplies category. Importantly, it does not limit the consumption of the food and beverages to off site premises, as it did beer in the prior ordinance nor does it limit the preparation of the food to off site premises.

The City interpreted the language of this ordinance in 1982 when the construction of an ice house was proposed by the prior owner of this property, Earl H. Fayard, Jr. The City requested an opinion from the then City Attorney, Oscar R. Jordan, whom stated that whether or not the ice house would be considered an allowable use was a factual decision and depended on whether the Board found it to be a "sale of service and supplies, including beverages and food for boats and watercraft which use the Small Craft Harbor." (*See* minutes of Recess Meeting of October 19, 1982, Appellants' R.E. 207-208.) He further stated, if Mr. Fayard planned to sell ice to all boats and watercraft (rather than just commercial), the proposed ice house would serve *primarily* the boats and watercraft which use the Small Craft Harbor. (*Id.*) (emphasis added). By a unanimous vote, the City found the ice house to be a permitted use under the language of the ordinance. (*Id.*) Note, the ice house sales were not restricted *exclusively* to boats and watercraft which use the harbor.

i

i,

÷.

Ł

4. The City's Interpretation of Section 409 of the Ocean Springs Ordinance Was Not Arbitrary and Capricious

The minutes of the May 1, 2007 Board meeting clearly provide that the Board considered the

language of the ordinance and concluded that the proposed deli was a permitted use based on

substantial evidence. (See Minutes, Appellants' R.E. 177-178.) The Board made several findings

of fact as follows:

.

ι.

¥ .

1. That the testimony represented that the deli will provide food and beverages primarily to the boating public.

Representations by the Harris':

- A. That the Marina users requested food service.
- B. That the Harris' stated it is their plan to serve food primarily to their boating customers.
- C. That the hours of operation of the deli are from sunup to sundown, which mirror the hours of the Marina.
- D. That the food menu lends itself to take-out.
- E. That the Harris'/Harbor Landing are providing only ten (10) tables for dine-in customers as a convenience and incidental to the serving of beverages and food to harbor boaters.
- F. That the Harris' submitted business plan documents.
- 2. That traffic congestion exists.
- 3. That the neighborhood surrounding the harbor could be adversely affected by loud noise, rowdy behavior and late night hours of operation.
- 4. That the Harris' submitted certain documents which contained representations by them that would be enforced as a condition of occupancy.

(*See* Appellants' R.E. 187.) Moreover, the Board imposed certain conditions upon the Harbor Landing deli requiring it to provide adequate parking, provide security at designated times throughout the year, operate from sun-up to sun down and follow all noise ordinances. In requiring the deli to operate from sun-up to sun down, the City acknowledged that in order to primarily serve the harbor users as required by the ordinance, the hours of the deli need to be limited to when the harbor is active, as opposed to closing at one o'clock in the morning.

Finally, the Board expressly stated that the finding that the deli was a permitted use under

the language of the ordinance was made "within the particular facts, statements, and representations presented," and if the facts change or were misrepresented, the deli's permits could be revoked and it would become a non-conforming use. (*Id.*) Thereby, making it clear that the City will ensure the zoning ordinance is complied with and will take appropriate action if it is not.

a. The Harris'/Harbor Landing's Intention

i.

1 -

Ł

1 :

1

The Appellants assert that the Harris' true intention is to serve the general public as opposed to the boats and watercraft of the harbor and therefore the proposed deli does not fall within the language of the ordinance. (Appellant Br. 32-36.) The City readily admits that the Applicants first applied for a special use permit to provide food services in the harbor as they were advised to do by the Ocean Springs Building Official, Terry Agar. *(See Appellants'* R.E. 026-027; Appellants' R.E. 019.) It was later brought to the attention of the Applicants, as well as the City, after an examination of the ordinance in question, a special use permit is not allowed under said ordinance. *(See Appellants'* R.E. 195-208.) Thus, the City was left to examine the language of its ordinance and decide whether the proposed deli was allowable under the zoning ordinance as written. After hearing arguments for both sides, the Board concluded the deli was a conforming use.

Appellants argue that there is no substantial evidence or even a "mere scintilla" of evidence to support the finding that the Harris' intend to limit their services to the boats and watercraft using the harbor because the Harris' changed their position at the last minute, therefore, their final statement of intention is unbelievable. (Appellant Br. 36.) Appellants further state, "[o]bviously, Harbor Landing changed its position after reading the City Attorney's memo and realized that a 'special use permit' is not legal in the Limited Marina District." (Appellant Br. 35.) The City strongly disagrees with Appellants suggestion that the Harris' are dishonest solely because they altered their position on an issue. This is especially true in the instant case where the course of the proceedings changed in the middle of the process (i.e., from a request for a special use permit to the interpretation of an ordinance). In any event, the Harris' did not change their position on this issue, they ultimately altered their plans to comport with the language of the zoning ordinance. This certainly does not make their proposal to the Board untruthful.

Mrs. Harris spoke at the May 1, 2007 Board Meeting and stated the following in pertinent

part:

ł

[W]e are a dry marina. We store boats, but then we service the customers where those boats are storing. Tr. 2:14-2:15. When we opened the business, we listened to what our customers wanted. The request of those customers were things like ice, fuel, bait, drinks, and we responded to all of those. Food was also a very large request by those customers, and not just a Coke and a bag of chips, they wanted prepared food that they could take out on the boat with them or have there while they were waiting for their boat at the harbor. We want to make it clear that we have a business plan that is one goal and one goal only, and that this full-service customer business marina, which includes a deli to provide food to the boaters – and we anticipate that 100 percent of our customer base is our boating community at the Ocean Springs harbor. As you're well aware, there have been many statements regarding this idea of opening a deli. While many statements have no merit, whatsoever, we have taken the valid concerns of our neighbors into account and we certainly want to show the willingness to bridge the gap between what is best for the people at the harbor and for the neighboring citizens who have voiced concerns.... Tr.2:24- 3:25. [W]e read Mr. Edwards' document on the clarification that we asked for two weeks ago, and we're here tonight to show that we have met our requirements for the C-4B ordinance and that our proposed deli is in complete compliance with our existing ordinance. Tr. 4:12-4:18.

(*See* Transcript of May 1, 2007 Board Meeting, Appellants' R.E. 139-173.) These statements to the Board evidence the Harris' intent to serve primarily the boats and watercraft using the harbor. The Harris' first and foremost run a marina and wish to further service their customers by responding to their request for food. Finally, Mrs. Harris stated that they sought clarification of the zoning ordinance and were there to present a proposed deli that would be in complete compliance with the City's ordinance.

With that being said, the most important point is the Board found that a deli with the primary intent to provide food and beverages to the boats and watercraft using the harbor, not the sole intent, was a permitted use, and the Harris' own personal "heart of hearts" intent does not alter this determination. Whether or not the Harris' changed their minds or their plans is irrelevant. Certainly, the Harris' are well aware of the fact that if the deli fails to comply with the findings and conditions imposed by the Board, it will become a non-conforming use and the City may proceed as necessary to ensure compliance with the ordinance; therefore, they would gain nothing by agreeing to abide by defined parameters of "sale of service and supplies, including beverages and food for boats and watercraft which use the Small Craft Harbor" if they did not follow them. (*See* Appellants' R.E. 187.)

e - -

.

ξ.

i

4

ç

As such, there is substantial evidence in the record to support the City's interpretation of its ordinance and its findings of fact in this case. "Substantial evidence has been defined as 'such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion' or to put it simply, more than a 'mere scintilla' of evidence." *Hooks vs. George County*, 748 So. 2d 678, 680 (Miss. 1999). The information presented to the Board provided more than a "mere scintilla" of evidence upon which the Board could determine that "reasonable minds might accept" the primary purpose of the proposed deli was to provide food and beverages to boats and watercraft using the harbor. As the governing authority of the City, the Board's decision is not to be disturbed, "unless it is clearly shown to be arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, or is illegal, or without a substantial evidentiary basis." *Faircloth vs. Lyles*, 592 So. 2d at 943.

It is apparent from the record, that the City considered both sides of this issue and its decision is at a minimum "fairly debatable." *City of Biloxi vs. Hilbert*, 597 So. 2d at 1280-81. The Board heard from citizens for and against the proposed deli, which it did not have to do because the Ocean Springs Zoning Ordinances contain no provision for a public hearing involving the interpretation of words. It looked to the history of the ordinance and showed deference to the precedent set in 1982 by following the analysis for the ice house. The Board made several findings of fact and imposed several conditions upon the Applicants in order to ensure the proposed deli was in compliance with the language of the ordinance requiring the services to be provided to the harbor users. The City made a well-thought out decision based on substantial evidence in determining that a business proposing to sell food and beverages to harbor boaters is a permitted use under an ordinance that specifically allows for the sale of food and beverages to harbor boaters. Therefore, the trial court was correct in holding that the decision was based on substantial evidence, and it was not arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory or illegal.

÷

÷.,

Ł

Ł

B. The City Did Not Provide the Harris' a Special Exception or Conditional Use

Admittedly, the trial court termed this issue as the appeal of a request for a special exception or conditional use even though the City's zoning ordinances do not provide for such requests; however, this is harmless error because the court ultimately reviewed the Board's interpretation of the ordinance and applied the proper standard of review. (*See* Decision and Order, Appellants' R.E. 240-246.)

The trial court quoted the familiar standard that a governing authority's decision will not be disturbed if it is considered "fairly debatable" and will be set aside only if it clearly appears the decision is arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, illegal or is not supported by substantial evidence. (*Id.* at 244.) It then looked to the ordinance in question and noted that there is one specifically permitted use (yacht club) and a description of uses that are specifically prohibited, and "[i]n between, there are uses that essentially require an analysis by the permitting authorities to determine its compatibility." (*Id.* at 245.) An analysis to determine compatibility is an interpretation of the

ordinance to determine compatibility (i.e., determine whether the proposed use is a compatible and therefore permitted under the ordinance).

r i

ŧ.

ł

ł

The court went on to state that both sides agree the ordinance does not provide for a special exception, but "any proposed use other than that specifically permitted - a yacht club- would have to be one compatible with the requirements of the ordinance and the district. In essence, then, to allow any use other than a yacht club would be tantamount to allowing a special exception or a conditional use." (*Id.*) The court is correct in the fact that the use would have to be compatible with the requirements of the ordinance and the City found that the proposed use was compatible with the ordinance. However, this is not the same thing as allowing a special exception or conditional use."

In the instant case, the City simply interpreted the language of its zoning ordinance and nothing more. Despite the fact the trial court termed the issue as an appeal of a special exception, it correctly reviewed the appeal as an interpretation of a zoning ordinance. This is evidenced by the fact the court quoted the law that "the best interpretation of a zoning ordinance is the manner in which it is interpreted and applied by the enacting authorities." (*Id.* at 246.) Furthermore, it stated, "[h]ere, the City made a factual determination from the evidence and information before it that the intended use was compatible with the objectives and regulations of the ordinance...." (*Id.*) This is essentially saying the City interpreted the language of its ordinance to determine whether the proposed deli was a permitted use under the ordinance, which is what occurred, and the court reviewed this interpretation using the proper substantial evidence standard; therefore, the fact the court labeled it as a special exception is harmless error.

1. The Trial Court Did Not Err by Not Applying a De Novo Review

Appellants argue that the trial court erred by failing to undertake a de novo review of this case because the central issue is a question of statutory interpretation. (Appellant Br. 24-25.)

However, the central issue in this case is the interpretation of a zoning ordinance, not a statute, which is a significant difference because it requires a different standard of review. Appellants cite *32 Pit Bulldogs and Other Property versus County of Prentiss* in support of the statement that "an appeal of an interpretation of a statute *or ordinance* is in the nature of a question of law for review de novo by appellate courts." (Appellant Br. 25.) However, the Court in *32 Pit Bulldogs* only addressed the review of a state statute — not the review of a city zoning ordinance. 808 So. 2d 971 (Miss. 2002).

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